
                         

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

  



 

 
 

1 

 

 
 



 

 
 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

3 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

4 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

5 

 









































1 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



3 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  



4 
 

  

 

 



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

• 



6 
 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



7 
 

• 

 



























































These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.   

Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Page 1 of 9 

CITY OF MONTGOMERY 1 
BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS REGULAR MEETING 2 

CITY HALL  ∙  10101 MONTGOMERY ROAD  ∙  MONTGOMERY, OH  45242 3 
August 22, 2023 4 

 5 
PRESENT 

 
                                      GUESTS & RESIDENTS                                                                                          STAFF 

 
Ron Messer 
Member, City Council 

  Melissa Hays, City Planner 
 
Karen Bouldin, Secretary 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 
Mary Jo Byrnes, Chairman 
Richard White, Vice-Chairman 
Catherine Mills Reynolds 
Bob Saul 
Jade Stewart 
Steve Uckotter 
 
MEMBERS NOT PRESENT 
Mr. Molloy 

   
Brandon Endres 
9121 Forestknolls Dr., 45242 

James E. Sluka 
7208 Maryland Ave, Unit 2 
Cincinnati, OH 45236  

 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 6 
Chairman Byrnes called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 7 
 8 
Roll Call 9 
 10 
The roll was called and showed the following responses / attendance: 11 
 12 
   PRESENT:  Ms. Mills Reynolds, Mr. Uckotter, Mr. White, Mr. Saul,  13 
                       Ms. Stewart, Chairman Byrnes  (6) 14 
   ABSENT:  Mr. Molloy  (1) 15 
 16 
Pledge of Allegiance 17 
All of those in attendance stood and recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 18 
 19 
Chairman Byrnes gave a brief explanation of tonight’s proceedings: She stated that tonight the 20 
Board will be conducting two public hearings.  A public hearing is a collection of testimony 21 
from City Staff, the applicant, and anyone wishing to comment on the case.  All discussions by 22 
the Board of Zoning Appeals and all decisions will take place within the business session of this 23 
meeting, which immediately follows the public hearing.  Everyone is welcome to stay for the 24 
business session of the meeting, however, the Board will not take any further public comment 25 
during the portion of the meeting, unless clarification is needed by a Board member.   26 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 2 of 9 
 

Chairman Byrnes noted that anyone not agreeing with the Board’s decision has the option of 27 
appealing to Hamilton County Common Pleas Court, under the procedures established by that 28 
court.   29 
 30 
She asked all guests to turn off their cell phones. 31 
 32 
Chairman Byrnes asked that anyone planning to speak to the Board please stand to be sworn in 33 
(which includes the applicant).  Chairman Byrnes swore in everyone planning to speak. 34 
 35 
Guests and Residents 36 
Chairman Byrnes asked if there were any guests or residents who wished to speak about items 37 
that were not on the agenda.  There were none. 38 
 39 
Old Business    40 
There was no old business to discuss. 41 
 42 
New Business (1)    43 
A request for a variance from James E. Sluka for the property situated at Parcel ID 44 
060300240367 -  Hightower Court, Montgomery, Ohio 45242 to allow for a rear yard setback 45 
of 23.9 feet, where 30 feet is the minimum required, per Schedule 151.1005 of the 46 
Montgomery Zoning Code. 47 
 48 
Staff Report 49 
Ms. Hays reviewed the Staff Report dated August 22, 2023 “Application for Variance:   50 
James E. Sluka Parcel ID  060300240367 Hightower Court.” 51 
 52 
She showed drawings on the wide screen for all to see, to provide more understanding of the 53 
Staff Report.  She indicated that an email was received, not in favor of this application, from the 54 
neighbor in the rear, on 9245 E. Kemper Road, 45140 55 
 56 
Ms. Hays asked if the Board had any questions.  There were none. 57 
 58 
Chairman Byrnes asked if the applicant wished to speak. 59 
 60 
James (Jim) Sluka, 7208 Maryland Avenue, Unit 2, Cincinnati, OH 45236 stated that he was 61 
living at this address temporarily until his new home is built.  He noted that he has been working 62 
on this project for 23 years; he has owned the land since 1999.  He explained that in January of 63 
2022, he came before this Board and received approval for a variance request for a 2,093 square 64 
foot home, however, after he received all of the quotes, he discovered it would be too expensive.   65 
 66 
Mr. Sluka now has reduced his plan to 1538 square feet, and this reduced the amount of square 67 
foot violation by 87 square feet.  He stated that this would be a great retirement home.   68 
He described his proposed home, noting that for the future, it will be very marketable. 69 
 70 
He asked for any questions from the Board. 71 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 3 of 9 
 

 72 
Ms. Stewart asked if he was seeking a smaller variance than his 2022 variance.  Mr. Sluka 73 
confirmed, noting that the previous variance was 369.27 square feet, and this request was for 87 74 
square feet less.  He believed this was very practical and did not feel it would be a problem with 75 
the back yard, which had many trees in the back, between the two homes.  He stated that he had 76 
just received the letter from the property owner in the rear.  He did not have a chance to research 77 
it, as he received the letter today. 78 
 79 
Ms. Stewart asked if he had received suitable quotes for this plan.  Mr. Sluka confirmed, noting 80 
that he is on the final stages of the bidding process. 81 
 82 
Mr. Saul asked if he had access to full city services of water and electric.  Mr. Sluka stated that 83 
he did; he actually built the home next to this one, at 10212 Hightower Court.  84 
 85 
Ms. Mill-Reynolds asked if the neighbor in the back had submitted a letter in 2022, or if this was 86 
the first response he had received from them.  Ms. Hays wasn’t sure.  She had spoken with the 87 
neighbor in the field in 2022, walking the property with her, and showing her where the proposed 88 
house would be.  Mr. Sluka stated that they did not receive a letter in 2022.   89 
 90 
Chairman Byrnes asked if Ms. Hays spoke with the Trents about this application.  Ms. Hays 91 
stated that she did not.  Chairman Byrnes stated that maybe the neighbor was concerned that this 92 
home would be rented.  Mr. Sluka noted that he planned to live there. 93 
 94 
Chairman Byrnes asked if any guests or residents had comments.  There were none. 95 
 96 
Adjournment 97 
Mr. White moved to close the public hearing.   98 
Mr. Uckotter seconded the motion. 99 
The public hearing adjourned at 7:20p.m.   100 
 101 
Chairman Byrnes opened the business session at 7:20p.m. 102 
 103 
Business Session (1) 104 
A request for a variance from James E. Sluka for the property situated at Parcel ID 105 
060300240367 Hightower Court, Montgomery, Ohio 45242 to allow for a rear yard setback of 106 
23.9 feet, where 30 feet is the minimum required, per Schedule 151.1005 of the Montgomery 107 
Zoning Code. 108 
 109 
Ms. Stewart stated that she attempts to be sensitive to other residents and their complaints, but 110 
the buffer between these two homes is greater than if they both were at the minimum required, so 111 
it is hard to change the decision when a smaller variance was already approved, when many 112 
properties have even smaller buffers in between them. 113 
 114 
Mr. Saul felt that we made a mistake then. 115 
 116 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 4 of 9 
 

Mr. Uckotter moved to approve the request from James E. Sluka for the property situated at 117 
Parcel ID 060300240367 - Hightower Court,  Montgomery, Ohio 45242 to allow for a rear 118 
yard setback of 23.9 feet, where 30 feet is the  minimum required, per Schedule 151.1005 of 119 
the Montgomery Zoning Code, as described in the City of Montgomery Staff Report, dated 120 
August 22, 2023. 121 
 122 
This approval is justified by criteria # 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 &10, as outlined in Montgomery 123 
Codified Ordinance Chapter 150.2010 (d) for granting variances. 124 
 125 
Mr. Saul seconded the motion. 126 
 127 
The roll was called and showed the following vote: 128 
 129 
   AYE:  Mr. White, Mr. Saul, Ms. Stewart, Ms. Mills Reynolds, Mr. Uckotter,       130 
      Chairman Byrnes  (6) 131 
   NAY:    (0) 132 
  ABSENT:  Mr. Molloy  (1) 133 
 ABSTAINED:  (0) 134 
 135 
This motion is approved. 136 
 137 
Adjournment 138 
Mr. Saul moved to close the business session.   139 
Mr. Uckotter seconded the motion. 140 
The business session adjourned at 7:24p.m.   141 
 142 
Chairman Byrnes opened the public hearing at 7:24p.m. 143 
 144 
New Business (2)    145 
A request for a variance from Eleanor and Brandon Endres, property owners of  146 
9121 Forestknolls Drive, Montgomery, OH 45242 to allow a new detached structure, 24 feet by 147 
24 feet, to have a side yard setback of 7.5 feet, where 15 feet is the minimum required, per  148 
Schedule 151.1009 (B) of the Montgomery Zoning Code. 149 
 150 
Staff Report 151 
Ms. Hays reviewed the Staff Report dated August 22, 2023, “Application for Variance:  Eleanor 152 
and Brandon Endres, 9121 Forestknolls Drive, 45242”. 153 
 154 
She showed drawings on the wide screen for all to see, to provide more understanding of the 155 
Staff Report.  She indicated that there had been no calls, but received one letter of opposition. 156 
 157 
Ms. Hays asked if the Board had any questions.   158 
 159 
Mr. White asked if this was the optimum placement of this garage on the property, given the 160 
location of the large tree.  Ms. Hays pointed out on the wide screen, and felt that it was, in order 161 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 5 of 9 
 

to keep most of the construction out of the drip line of the tree; although some of it will be under 162 
the drip line, but the applicant did not see that part as being detrimental.  Chairman Byrnes 163 
pointed out that having the heavy equipment rolling over that area was not good, and they 164 
wanted to avoid that. 165 
 166 
Ms. Hays also noted that there is a drainage channel that goes through there, and if this is 167 
approved, Staff recommends that she review the drainage plan to be sure it still functions 168 
properly, and doesn’t dam up the water flow.  It is a swale, not a pipe.  She stated there was no 169 
easement. 170 
 171 
Ms. Stewart referred to the 8924 East Kemper Road property, which had a zero foot setback.  172 
She asked if it was visible from the street, and asked for any details.  Mr. Uckotter remembered 173 
that application, stating that it entailed a lawsuit between the neighbors, where the garage was 174 
built into the neighbor’s yard.  They went to court, and through mediation, they agreed to 175 
subdivide the lot.  The neighbor bought the land, up to the zero line.  The garage had already 176 
been built, and had been there for years.  Staff stated that she was not sure how that got 177 
approved.  It was an existing situation.  Mr. Uckotter stated that it was not visible from the street, 178 
because it sat way back; it was a panhandle lot. 179 
 180 
Chairman Byrnes asked if the applicant wished to speak. 181 
 182 
Mr. Brandon Endres, 9121 Forestknolls Drive, Montgomery, OH  45242 stated that their 183 
intention was to have a 2-car garage placed, to allow the most likely success of the oak tree, 184 
which is the cause for the variance.  They have tried to move it as far to the left of the tree.   185 
He noted that there was a fence on his property, also.  He noted that the tree was very healthy, 186 
and provided a great amount of shade for them. 187 
 188 
Mr. Endres stated that he was building this garage at the maximum allowable size permitted.  189 
If he reduced the size, he would still request the same variance, to keep the distance from the tree 190 
-- for its’ protection.   191 
 192 
To address the rear, there is a 35 foot setback, and they would not encroach the drainage area. 193 
Mr. Endres stated that there were a lot of rocks to allow the drainage to come through – they 194 
break down the velocity.  He pointed out that it becomes a river, at times, going through his yard 195 
and the neighbor’s yard to the south, as well. 196 
 197 
Mr. Endres stated that they intended to match the materials and structure of the home.  He stated 198 
that the home was built in 1976 and cars were much smaller then; that is the reason they wanted 199 
this 2-car garage.  Their SUV does not fit into the current structure, and this would keep their car 200 
from being parked on the street. 201 
 202 
Ms. Stewart stated that the Board needed to use specific criteria to base their decision on.  One of 203 
them is that it must be the minimum necessary; she asked why they needed this size, as opposed 204 
to something smaller, to satisfy the minimum necessary.  Mr. Endres stated that was the size 205 
needed for a 2-car garage.  She asked if it could be smaller than that.  Mr. Endres stated that they 206 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 6 of 9 
 

could have a one-car garage, but he would still need the setback, to keep the tree protected.   207 
 208 
Ms. Stewart asked if the structure could be oriented another way so that 2 vehicles could fit in 209 
the other direction.  Mr. Endres stated that they currently have a rear-entry garage; he referred to 210 
his drawing, stating that a side-loading garage would not be feasible.  You would have to have 211 
approximately 25 feet of driveway on the side, in addition to this – which would encroach further 212 
on the tree. 213 
 214 
Ms. Hays stated that 576 square feet was the standard for a two-car garage, minimum. 215 
 216 
Ms. Catherine Mills Reynolds asked if they were doing some other work there, as well.   217 
Mr. Endres stated that they were, and their addition to the back of the structure did not need any 218 
variances. 219 
 220 
Chairman Byrnes asked if this was a kit package that would be built for the garage.  Mr. Endres 221 
stated that it was not, and pointed them to the rendering in their packet, showing the architectural 222 
drawings.  223 
 224 
Mr. White asked if the side wall had trees along it.  Mr. Endres stated that there were trees along 225 
the back, the southern part .  Along the northern property, there was a fence. 226 
 227 
Ms. Catherine Mills Reynolds asked if they would maintain the fence, after the structure was 228 
built, or would it go away.  Mr. Endres stated that they will keep the fence.  The structure, the 229 
footers and the brick wall will be setback 9 feet, the overhang is the 7.5 feet.   230 
 231 
Ms. Mills Reynolds asked about all of the landscaping – the trees.  Mr. Endres noted that it will 232 
all be retained, all the way back.  Right now, it is open green space, and will be kept. 233 
 234 
Mr. Uckotter asked about the 7.5 foot setback for the drip-line to the property line.  Mr. Endres 235 
explained that the requested 7.5 feet was so the drip-line would be where the gutters were. The 236 
easement will come out 18 inches to 2 ½ feet.  The wall will be about 9 ½ feet from the property 237 
line.  He didn’t want the overhang to be inside of the requested setback, and therefore, be in 238 
violation, so he requested 7.5 feet, which would account for where the gutter stops.  Ms. Hays 239 
stated that he intentionally gave himself some wiggle room.  Mr. Uckotter stated that it was 240 
actually less, because the overhang didn’t count.  Ms. Hays confirmed.  241 
 242 
Chairman Byrnes asked if any guests or residents had comments.  There were none. 243 
 244 
Adjournment 245 
Mr. Saul moved to close the public hearing.   246 
Mr. Uckotter seconded the motion. 247 
The public hearing adjourned at 7:45p.m.   248 
 249 
Chairman Byrnes opened the business session at 7:45p.m. 250 
 251 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 7 of 9 
 

Business Session (2) 252 
A request for a variance from Eleanor and Brandon Endres, property owners of 9121 253 
Forestknolls Drive, Montgomery, OH 45242 to allow a new detached structure, 24 feet by 24 254 
feet, to have a side yard setback of 7.5 feet, where 15 feet is the minimum required, per  255 
Schedule 151.1009 (B) of the Montgomery Zoning Code. 256 
 257 
Ms. Milld-Reynolds liked this better because it was 7.5 feet and not 9.  She also liked that the 258 
fence was staying there.  She was aware of the neighbor in opposition, but she also noted that 259 
there was a tree line and a fence, which meant that this situation did not drastically change.   260 
 261 
Ms. Mills-Reynolds did agree that this was a large structure and was not in favor of the way it 262 
had to be built; she felt that it would be more aesthetically pleasing if you could turn it.  263 
Chairman Byrnes agreed that this was a large structure. 264 
 265 
Mr. Saul pointed out that trees were important, but also were temporary.  He felt this was a 266 
temporary situation with the tree maintenance. 267 
 268 
Mr. Uckotter asked if there was a practical difficulty.  He felt this difficulty was self-created.   269 
He understood the applicant wanting to protect the tree, and to also have a two-car garage.   270 
The fact is that most residents do not have that; Mr. Endres’ situation was self-created.  Because 271 
it was self-created, Mr. Uckotter did not feel that he could support this.  He felt that this was a 272 
want, and not a need. 273 
 274 
Chairman Byrnes understood and agreed.  There is no guarantee that this tree will live through 275 
all of this.  She did not feel it was right to put so much emphasis on a tree, and if it will live or 276 
not.  If the garage was there, she felt it would be very difficult to take the tree down, if anything 277 
happened to it.  You would need a crane.  278 
 279 
Mr. Uckotter felt that this application could meet code, but the roots of the tree create collateral 280 
damage. 281 
 282 
Ms. Stewart felt that the Board’s responsibility was to follow the code.  She did not feel the 283 
applicant has met these requirements, and was concerned that this was a very, very intrusive 284 
structure --and would be, from the street.  She was not in favor of allowing this variance, noting 285 
that this was the largest request (except for the one that went to court).  She felt that this would 286 
set a huge precedent.   287 
 288 
Mr. Saul agreed that it would certainly be visible.   289 
 290 
Mr. Uckotter stated that they could have the structure, they can move the structure or make it 291 
smaller – there were many options. 292 
 293 
Mr. White agreed that there were other options. 294 
 295 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 8 of 9 
 

Mr. Uckotter moved to approve the request for a variance from Eleanor and Brandon Endres, 296 
property owners of 9121 Forestknolls Drive, Montgomery, OH 45242 to allow a new detached 297 
structure, 24 feet by 24 feet, to have a side yard setback of 7.5 feet, where 15 feet is the 298 
minimum required, per Schedule 151.1009 (B) of the Montgomery Zoning Code, as described 299 
in the City of Montgomery Staff Report, dated August 22, 2023. 300 
 301 
This approval is justified by criteria # 1, 5, 6 and 7 as outlined in Montgomery Codified 302 
Ordinance Chapter 150.2010 (d) for granting variances. 303 
 304 
Mr. Saul seconded the motion. 305 
 306 
The roll was called and showed the following vote: 307 
 308 
   AYE:        (0) 309 
   NAY:  Mr. Saul, Ms. Stewart, Ms. Mills Reynolds, Mr. Uckotter, Mr. White, 310 
      Chairman Byrnes  (6) 311 
  ABSENT:  Mr. Molloy  (1) 312 
 ABSTAINED:  (0) 313 
 314 
This motion is denied. 315 
 316 
Mr. Endres stated that he understood their decision.  He could still move the structure within the 317 
setback to meet the code.  He appreciated the Board’s time and decision. 318 
 319 
Adjournment 320 
Mr. Saul moved to close the business session.   321 
Mr. Uckotter seconded the motion. 322 
The business session adjourned at 7:50p.m.   323 
 324 
Chairman Byrnes opened the public hearing at 7:50p.m. 325 
 326 
Council Report 327 
Ron Messer was in attendance, representing City Council. 328 
 329 
He noted that Vegas in the Village will be held on Thursday, Sept 7 – and will be bigger than last 330 
year. Elvis is coming!   331 
 332 
Mr. Messer provided an update on Council items and answered questions from the Board. 333 
 334 
Minutes 335 
Mr. Uckotter moved to approve the minutes of June 20 2023, as written.  336 
Mr. Saul seconded the motion.   337 
The Board unanimously approved the minutes. 338 
 339 
 340 



These Board of Zoning Minutes are a draft.  They do not represent the official record of proceedings 

 until formally adopted by the Board of Zoning Appeals.  

 Formal adoption is noted by signature of the Clerk within the Minutes. 

Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting                                                                 
August 22, 2023                                                         

Page 9 of 9 
 

Adjournment 341 
Mr. Saul moved to adjourn.  Mr. Uckotter seconded the motion.   342 
The meeting adjourned at 8:10p.m. 343 
 344 
 345 
 346 
 347 
 348 
              349 
Karen Bouldin, Clerk      Mary Jo Byrnes, Chairman                  Date 350 
 351 
/ksb 352 


	agenda
	staff sluka
	app sluka
	sluka site
	staff fence
	app fence
	addl ltr fence
	minutes

